I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. Respondent erred in suspending Petitioner's nursing license in view of the 

reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record, as Order is in excess of 

statutory provisions and is arbitrary and capricious. 

B. Respondent erred by acting beyond its statutory authority in concluding that 

Petitioner's single urine drug screen test (hereinafter "UDS"), which was reported as 

positive for Carboxy-THC (hereinafter "THC"), a compound found in marijuana, is 

sufficient to find that Petitioner's conduct was "unlawful." 

C. Respondent erred, in violation ofW. Va. Code § 30-7-11(c), in concluding that 

Petitioner's single positive UDS for l1-IC, is sufficient to find that Petitioner is unfit or 

incompetent to practice registered professional nmsingby reason of habits or other causes. 

D. Respondent erred, inviolationof W Va.Code§ 30-7-11(f), in concluding that 

Petitioner's single THC positive ODS, is sufficient to conclude that Petitioner is guilty of 

conduct derogatory to the morals orstandingofthe professional ofregistered nursing. 

E. Petitioner's constitutional right of due process was violated by other error, 

in that Petitioner's attorney at hearing, was unprepared and utterly failed to protect his 

interests prior to, during and following the subject administrative hearing. 

F. The Respondent erred by entering the Final Order and Final Order Addition 

imposing tenns and conditions with such a broad scope and breadth that Petitioner's 

Constitutional due process and privacy rights were violated. 

G. Respondent erred in not producing the entirety of its file to Petitioner's 

former counsel, prior to the Administrative Hearing, specifically including, but not limited to, 

the complete March 7, 2014 exculpatory report prepared by Binicki Shrewsbury, MS, LSW, LPC, 
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AADC of FMRS Health Systems, Inc., which reported that Petitioner had no need for alcohol or 

other drug treatment per the American Society for Addiction Medicine ("AS AM") criteria. 

H. Errors and deficits within the chainofcustody for both the Aegis and Quest 

laboratories' urine drug testing and related handling of the urine samples should have 

precluded Respondent's admission of these testing results into evidence at hearing. W. 

Va. R.C.P. 104. 

1. Respondent erred in admitting the reports and testimony of an expert witness 

without first determining that the underlying facts or data relied upon by the expert were 

conditionally relevant and credible, particularly those from Quest Diagnostics regarding the results 

of the alleged testing of"Sample B." W. Va. R.C.P. 104. 

J. Respondent erred, in violation ofW.Va. C.S.R. § 19-5-1 0.1, by waiting one hundred 

sixty-six (166) days to enter the Final Order, well beyond the requirement that such Order must be 

entered within forty-five (45) days following the submission of documents and materials. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Procedural History 

This matter relates to disciplinary action Respondent is pursuing against the Petitioner, who is 

a West Virginia Registered Nurse and licensee of Respondent. This Appeal seeks relief from the 

Final Order and Final Order Addition entered ~ Respondent, on March 30, 2015, which 

suspended the nursing license of Petitioner for a period of one (1) year, but also stayed the 

suspension and placed his licensed on probation for two (2) years, with restrictive and draconian 

contingencies, which, in effect, have prevented Respondent from gainful employment in the 

nursing field, and which will likely continue indefinitely. At said administrative hearing, 

Petitioner was represented by attorney Sarah Smith. 
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On January 14, 2014, the Respondent sent a Notice of Complaint to Petitioner alleging 

violation of the rules and regulations applicable to West Virginia Registered Nurses, based upon 

Petitioner's single UDS, which was reported as positive for THC, a compound found in 

marijuana. Petitioner's responded denying all wrong-doing. (Appendix 00001- 00006). At the 

Board's direction, on or about March 7, 2014, Petitioner subsequently underwent an addiction 

evaluation by Binicki Shrewsbury, MS, LSW, LPC, AADC of FMRS Health Systems, Inc. This 

evaluation found that Petitioner had no need for alcohol or other drug treatment. (Appendix 

00073 - 00086.) Following disclosure of Ms. Shrewsbury's report finding no addiction, the sole 

settlement negotiations the Board agreed to was a single consent order, forwarded via 

correspondence dated March 18, 2014, prepared unilaterally by the Board, which Petitioner 

rejected, as he felt it would be dishonest to admit to a problem that he did not have, namely 

addiction. 

Then, on June 30, 2014, the Respondent issued a Complaint and Notice of Hearing setting 

a hearing in this matter for August 7, 2014. A continuance was subsequently granted and the 

hearing was moved to October 9,2014, with attorney Jack McClung presiding as the Respondent's 

designated Hearing Examiner. (Appendix, 00007 - 00008). The administrative disciplinary 

hearing took place on October 9, 2014. A transcript was prepared and hand-delivered to the 

Respondent on October 15,2014. All exhibits entered as evidence at hearing, were attached to the 

transcript. (Appendix 00009 - 00058). The Final Order was subsequently entered by Respondent 

on March 30, 2015, one hlU1dred sixty-six (166) days from the day the evidence was submitted. 

(Appendix 00067 - 00071). 

Following this hearing, Petitioner retained the lU1dersigned counsel to represent him in seeking 

relieffrom the aforementioned Final Order. On May 4, 2015, the Petitioner filed an administrative appeal 

3 



of the Final Order in the Circuit COUli ofKanawha County, West Virginia, where it was assigned to the 

Honorable Louis Bloom. That same day, the Petitioner also filed a Writ of Prohibition with the West 

Virginia Supreme Court ofAppeals seeking to prohibit Respondent from taking action against his license, 

based upon the lengthy delay between submission of the record and Respondent's entry of the subject 

Final Order. The administrative appeal pending in Circuit Court was subsequently stayed, awaiting the 

outcome ofsaid Writ. 

With regard to the Writ, full briefing was submitted to the Court for consideration. No oral 

arguments were had. In a split decision, Petitioner's Writ was refused and the Court declined to issue a 

show cause order. 

In the Petitioner's administrative appeal of the Final Order in Kanawha County, West Virginia 

Circuit Court, the matter was then fully briefed. Although requested by Respondent, no oral arguments 

were had. By Final Order, entered on September 17,2015, the Circuit Court upheld Respondent's 

Final Order, which adopted the Respondent's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and 

Recommended Order (Decision), along with the Final Order Addendum. (Appendix 00184 

00194). The Petitioner then filed the Notice ofAppeal with regard to the instant matter, again seeking 

relief from Respondent's original Final Order entered by Respondent and upheld by the Kanawha County 

Circuit Court. (Appendix 000195 - 000205). 

B. Statement of the Facts l 

1. Background Information 

1 Except as otherwise noted, Respondent presents these facts, as reflected in his hearing testimony, appeal 
to Circuit Court and Writ of Prohibition. See, transcript of administrative hearing; Writ of Prohibition and Appeal of 
Decision of the West Virginia Board of Examiners for Registered Professional Nurses to Kanawha County Circuit 
Court. 
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The Petitioner, Johnathan McClanahan, resides with his parents in Raleigh County, West 

Virginia. In 2009, Petitioner graduated from West Virginia University with a Bachelor of Science 

in Biology and a Bachelor of Arts in Philosophy. Petitioner continued with his education and 

graduated with a Bachelor of Science in Nursing from West Virginia University School of Nursing 

in 2013. Petitioner successfully passed his licensing exams in June 2013, and subsequently 

obtained his registered professional nursing ("RN") license from the State of West Virginia, 

License No. 85945. Petitioner's license was renewed in 2014, without restriction, until the Final 

Order was entered against him on or about March 30, 2015, as herein described. 

From May 2013 until November 2013, Petitioner worked as a Graduate Nurse and then as 

a Registered Nurse at Ruby Memorial Hospital in Morgantown, West Virginia. Petitioner has 

been described by his supervisors and co-workers as a reliable, responsible and a compassionate 

nurse. He has not been subject to any complaints, reprimands, or discipline ofany kind, other than 

the instant action. Petitioner has never been arrested, convicted nor charged with any criminal act. 

At all times relevant to the subject UDS, the Petitioner was NOT employed in the nursing field 

nor was he providing patient care. Respondent has made no allegations that the Petitioner was 

actually impaired by or under the influence of marijuana while working as a RN or while 

providing patient care. 

2. Pre-Employment Drug Testing at Raleigh General Hospital 

In October 2013, Petitioner resigned his position at Ruby Memorial Hospital to move back 

to his hometown ofBeckley, West Virginia, to be nearer to his family, including his aging parents. 

Once relocated, Petitioner applied for a Registered Nurse position at Raleigh General Hospital. 

On November 18, 2013, as part of the hiring process, Petitioner consented to a pre-employment 

UDS. Having no reason to believe he would not pass this drug screen, Petitioner consented 
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immediately upon request and provided the requested single urine sample per the direction of the 

laboratory personnel at Raleigh General Hospital, specifically, Jessica Troche, a phlebotomist. 

Ms. Troche provided testimony at hearing, in which she described the procedure she used 

to secure the restroom, prior to Petitioner depositing a urine sample in a single cup. Describing in 

great detail the steps taken with the urine sample from the time it was provided to her by Petitioner 

until she submitted it for shipping via Federal Express to Raleigh General's contracted toxicology 

lab, an "Aegis" facility located in Nashville, Tennessee. Raleigh General Hospital performed an 

initial screening immunoassay, which was positive for the presence of THC (Appendix 00013 

00016). Both Ms. Troche and the record are silent as to the storing, handling, cleaning, sterility, 

and chain of custody of the specimen cup at issue, prior to it being given to Petitioner. 

Subsequently, Raleigh General Hospital's certified "Medical Review Officer," Douglas 

Aukerman, MD, was notified by Aegis that Petitioner's initial urine drug screen (or 

"immunoassay" or "assay") had tested positive for THC. Dr. Aukerman resides and practices in 

Oregon. He does not hold an active license to practice medicine in the State of West Virginia. He 

is not employed by nor owners the laboratories at issue herein, namely Aegis and "Quest 

Diagnostic Laboratories" (hereinafter "Quest"). Likewise, Dr. Aukerman has no supervisory 

duties at either Aegis or Quest. He testified that these laboratories are "certified"; therefore, he is 

satisfied that all testing conducted and results reported by Aegis or Quest are accurate (Appendix 

00019). Dr. Aukerman was never physically in the same location as Petitioner's urine sample, nor 

did he have any first-hand knowledge as to the laboratory processing of Respondent's UDS. 

(Appendix 00018). 
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3. Administrative Hearing 

At the hearing on October 9, 2014, Dr. Aukerman testified that when Petitioner's urine 

sample was collected, Raleigh General Hospital performed an immunoassay test, which was 

positive for THC. The sample was then divided (or "split") between two (2) sample containers, 

labeled "Sample A" and "Sample B," respectively. Sample A was sent to the Aegis Lab in 

Nashville. (Appendix 00018) [Hearing Transcript at 38], when Raleigh General Hospital's initial 

screening immunoassay tested positive for the presence of THC. Dr. Aukerman testified if a 

screening assay is positive as in the instant matter, then another portion of Sample A undergoes a 

confirming GC-MS test. The GC-MS test provides the specific compound structure graph, 

indicating what substance is present and providing an exact amount of that substance in the sample. 

[Hearing Transcript at 43] (Appendix 00019). The Aegis Laboratory report indicated that 

Petitioner's Sample A tested positive for THC and showed the level ofTHC to be 22 nanograms 

per milliliter. [Hearing Transcript at 42 - 44.] (Appendix 00019). The Aegis' lab report for the 

second testing of Sample A, GC-MS graphs, was not produced at the hearing. It is not known if 

the second testing used an immunoassay screening test and/or mass spectrometry test. Dr. 

Aukerman did not state the amount ofTHC in the second testing. 

At that point, pursuant to Raleigh General Hospital policy, Petitioner challenged the test 

results of Sample A and requested Sample B be tested at another lab. Sample B was sent for testing 

at Quest Diagnostics. This sample also allegedly underwent GC-MS testing, but no report was 

provided from Quest Diagnostics. The record merely reflects that a report prepared by Dr. 

Aukerman, on his business letterhead, indicated the subject Sample B was "positive" for THC, 

without the expected numerical results or graphs. 

At hearing, no evidence was presented related to the AddictionlPsychological Evaluation 

7 



performed at the Respondent's request by Ms. Shrewsbury. Said report found that Petitioner had 

no addiction or dependency issues, and further, had no significant psychological illness that would 

impair his ability to practice nursing. 

4. The Aftermath 

The Final Order was entered by Respondent on March 30, 2015, adopting the Hearing 

Examiner's Findings ol Fact, Conclusions of Law and Recommended Order (Decision), 

which suspended the nursing license of Petitioner for a period of one (1) year, which was, in 

turn, immediately stayed, was placed his license on probation for two (2) years, with such 

restrictive draconian provisions that Petitioner has not been able to secure the type and amount 

employment required to begin tolling of the probationary period. At said administrative 

hearing, Petitioner was represented by attorney Sarah Smith, Esquire. 

Respondent herein was required to enter a final order within forty-five (45) days following 

submission of all documents and materials necessary for the proper disposition of the case. All 

such materials were within the custody and control of the Board by November 24,2014, including 

the proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law from both the Petitioner and Respondent. 

Indisputably, the Board did not enter a Final Order in this matter until March 30, 2015, one hundred 

sixty-six (166) days after the submission of all necessary materials to the Board to reach a final 

decision. 

Since the entry of this Order, Petitioner has not been able to secure employr:Q.ent in the field of 

nursing, due to the extremely burdensome requirements of the Final Order and Final Order Addition. 

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

This case is before the Court upon the appeal of lohnathan Lowell McClanahan, Petitioner, 

from a September 17, 2015, Final Order of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County affirming the 
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decision of the Respondent, the West Virginia Board of Examiners for Registered Professional 

Nurses. The standard of review on appeal of an administrative order from a Circuit Court to this 

Court is set forth in Syllabus Point 1 Muscatell v. Cline, 196 W.Va. 588, 474 S.E.2d 518 (1996). 

The Court is bound by the statutory standards contained in W.Va. Code § 29A-5-4(g), and reviews 

questions of law presented de novo. Findings of fact by the administrative officer are accorded 

deference unless the reviewing court believes the findings to be clearly wrong. 

In this instant matter, it is proper for the Supreme Court to vacate the Final Order of 

Respondent, because the Petitioner has been so substantially prejudiced by the Respondent's 

errors, that he has effectively been prevented from earning a living practicing his chosen profession 

of nursing. 

At the hearing, Petitioner consistently denied that he had used marijuana, which testimony the 

Hearing Examiner found to be ''plausible.'' Nevertheless, in its Final Order, Respondent concluded that 

Petitioner was "unfit or incompetent" to practice his chosen profession, based solely upon the 

results of the contested pre-employment urine drug testing, reporting that Petitioner tested 

positive for THC, a compound found in marijuana. Respondent concluded that this THC 

. positive test result, standing alone, was sufficient to conclude that Petitioner "unlawfully" used 

marijuana, with said illegal act being "derogatory to the morals and standing of the nursing 

profession." Additionally, without any further support, Respondent also ruled that Petitioner's 

unlawful use of marijuana rendered him "'unfit or incompetent to practice registered 

professional nursing by reason of habits or other causes, in violation ofW. Va. Code § 30-7

ll(c)." Moreover, at the time of the subject UDS and for several weeks prior, Petitioner was in 

the process of relocating from Morgantown, West Virginia, to his hometown of Beckley, West 

Virginia. At all times relevant hereto Petitioner was not employed in the nursing field or 
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providing patient care. Respondent made no findings or conclusions that Petitioner was impaired 

by marijuana, while working as anurse or while providing patient care. 

McClanahan filed an appeal of the Final Order entered on March 30, 2015, of the West 

Virginia Board ofExaminers for Registered Professional Nurses to the Circuit Court of Kanawha 

County, West Virginia, on May 4, 2015. This appeal was assigned to The Honorable Louis H. 

Bloom. Judge Bloom entered a Scheduling Order on June 16,2015, setting a timeline for all briefs. 

Petitioner subsequently filed his Petition for Appeal, a Response to this Petition was filed by 

Respondent, and then Petitioner filed a Reply to this Response. Judge Bloom did not schedule 

oral argument, as requested by the Petitioner, and, instead, entered a Final Order on September 17, 

2015, ruling in favor of Respondent, upholding the Hearing Examiner's Findings of Fact, 

Conclusions of Law, and Recommended Order (Decision). 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORDER ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Petitioner requests that the Court set this case for oral argument under Rule 20 of the 

Revised Rules of Appellate Procedure. Although some of Respondent's errors arise under 

precedents of this Court, this case presents an issue of first impression relating to the scope and 

breadth of the powers of an administrative board, as well as, any limitations to that power. 

Moreover, the facts of this case present issues of fundamental public importance regarding 

whether: licensed professionals in West Virginia can lose their license and all ability to earn a 

living in their chosen calling, based solely upon the results of a single, arguably flawed urine drug 

screen, without any additional confirmation of that UDS, proof of illegal acts, patient harm, or a 

diagnosis ofaddiction or dependency-related mental illness. Finally, this case raises issues related 

to whether a state board must make a prima facie showing as to the conditional admissibility of 

certain scientific or technical evidence, and satisfying preliminary questions as to its authenticity. 
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At issue in this case, is the degree of proof required to show that the evidence is sufficient to 

determine that it is what the offering party claims it to be under Rule 104 of the West Virginia 

Rules ofEvidence. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard for Review 

This case is before the Court upon the appeal of lohnathan Lowell McClanahan, Petitioner, 

from the September 17,2015, Final Order of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County affirming the 

decision of the Respondent, the West Virginia Board of Examiners for Registered Professional 

Nurses. The standard of review on appeal of an administrative order from a Circuit Court to this 

Court is set forth in Syllabus Point 1 Muscatel! v. Cline, 196 W.Va. 588,474 S.E.2d 518 (1996). 

The Court is bound by the statutory standards contained in W.Va. Code § 29A-5-4(g) and reviews 

questions of law presented de novo. Findings of fact by the administrative officer are accorded 

deference unless the reviewing court believes the findings to be clearly wrong. 

In Syllabus Point 2 of Shepherdstown Volunteer Fire Dep't v. State ex reI. State ofW Va. 

Human Rights Comm'n, 172 W.Va. 627, 309 S.E.2d 342 (1983), this Court outlined statutory 

standards contained in West Virginia Code § 29A-5-4:

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