IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


No. 15-1014 


JOHNAT HAN LOWELL MCCLANAHAN, RN, 


Petitioner, 

v. (Appeal from Kanawha County Circuit 
Court Civil Action 15-AA-58) 

WEST VIRGINIA BOARD OF EXAMINERS 
FOR REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL NURSES, 

Respondent. 

RESPONSE ON BEHALF OF THE WEST VIRGINIA BOARD OF 
EXAMINERS FOR REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL NURSES 

COMES NOW, Respondent, the West Virginia Board of Examiners for Registered 

Professional Nurses (hereinafter the "Board"), by counsel, Greg S. Foster, Assistant Attorney 

General, and submits its Response to Petitioner's Appeal Brief. For the reasons set forth below,

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 


1. The hearing examiner correctly found that Petitioner was guilty of conduct 

derogatory to the morals or standing of the profession of registered nursing in violation of W. 

Va. Code § 30-7-1 1 (f). Board regulation W. Va. Code R. § 19-3-14 expressly provides that a 

licensee who uses an illicit drug is guilty of professional misconduct under W. Va. Code § 30-7

1 1 (f). Thus, because marijuana is an illicit drug in West Virginia, Petitioner was guilty of 

misconduct in violation ofW. Va. Code § 30-7-1 1 (f). 

2. The hearing examiner also correctly found that Petitioner's use of an illicit drug 

rendered Petitioner unfit or incompetent to practice registered nursing in violation of W. Va. 

Code § 30-7-II(c). A one-time positive screen for an illicit drug is sufficient to constitute a 

violation of § 30-7-11 ( c), which does not require proof of prior drug history or addiction. This is 

demonstrated by the existence of W. Va. Code § 30-7-1 1 (d), a separate grounds for misconduct 

specifically related to drug addiction. Regardless, it is not necessary for the Court to address this 

issue because Petitioner's violation of W. Va. Code § 30-7-11(f) is sufficient to discipline 

Petitioner's license. 

3. Petitioner's allegation that the Board failed to produce a so-called "exculpatory" 

substance abuse evaluation of Petitioner is erroneous and misleading. First, Petitioner's assertion 

that the evaluation report is somehow "exculpatory" is frivolous. Second, the allegation that the 

Board failed to produce it is misleading because the document was actually produced to the 

Board by Petitioner's counsel. The only document the Board orginally received from Biniki 
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Shrewsberry was the March 7, 2014 one page evaluation summary, which was produced to 

Petitioner's counsel along with the entire file on April 14, 2014. The Board did not have and 

was unaware of the full evaluation report until Petitioner's counsel (who apparently was aware of 

it) directed Ms. Shrewsberry to produce it to the Board a few weeks before the hearing. As it 

was Petitioner's counsel who was aware of the document and had it produced to the Board, the 

Board reasonably assumed that Petitioner already had a copy and was simply disclosing it. Had 

the Board known otherwise, it would have happily forwarded the document upon receipt. In any 

case, Petitioner had access to the full evaluation report at all times and obtained a copy before the 

hearing. 

4. Petitioner's challenge to chain of custody is pure speculation and conjecture. The 

evidence established that proper chain of custody was utilized at all times. There is no evidence 

that Petitioner's urine sample was contanlinated or tampered with. There were no irregularities 

or concerns that brought chain of custody into question. At no time in the underlying proceeding 

did Petitioner contest or raise any objection to chain of custody. Even in this appeal, Petitioner 

does not point to any evidence that suggests the samples were tampered with or somehow 

contaminated. Petitioner's allegations rest entirely on speculation and no legitimate basis exists 

to conclude that the hearing examiner abused his discretion by admitting the evidence. 

5. The Board timely issued its Final Order within forty-five (45) days of submission 

of all documents and materials necessary for proper resolution of the case as required by W. Va. 

Code R. § 19-5-10.1. Petitioner ignores that the Board did not receive the most vital document 

necessary for disposition of the case until February 24, 2015, when the hearing examiner issued 

his Recommended Order. The Board then timely issued its Final Order on March 30, 2015, well 

within the statutory forty-five (45) day timeframe. 

10 




6. Petitioner's argument that he did not receive effective assistance of counsel 

during the underlying proceeding fails as a matter of law because this was not a criminal 

proceeding and he does not have a constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel. 

7. Petitioner's assertion that random drug testing is an unconstitutional invasion of 

his privacy is procedurally improper and legally erroneous. This issue was not raised before the 

Circuit Court or in Petitioner's Notice of Appeal. Regardless, the Board is permitted to order a 

licensee to submit to random drug testing as a condition of probation as a public safety measure. 

IV. 


STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 


The Board does not believe oral argument is necessary in this case, as the facts and the 

legal arguments in this matter are more than adequately presented in the briefs and the record 

filed with the Court. Oral argument would not significantly aid the decisional process. If this 

Court decides, however, that oral argument is necessary, the Board stands ready to appear and 

present its position. 

V. 


ARGUMENT 


A. Standard of Review 

"On appeal of an administrative order from a circuit court, this Court is bound by the 

statutory standards contained in W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4[g]35 and reviews questions of law 

35 The court may affirm the order or decision of the agency or remand the case for further 
proceedings. It shall reverse, vacate or modify the order or decision of the agency if the substantial 
rights of the petitioner or petitioners have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, 
inferences, conclusions, decision or order are: 

(1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; or 
(2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency; or 
(3) Made upon unlawful procedures; or 
(4) Affected by other error of law; or 
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presented de novo; findings of fact by the administrative officer are accorded deference unless 

the reviewing court believes the findings to be clearly wrong." Syl. Pt. 1, Muscatel! v. Cline, 474 

S.E.2d 518 CW. Va. 1996). 

This Court has made clear that evidentiary and factual findings in an administrative order 

are accorded "substantial deference" and "must be clearly wrong to warrant judicial 

interference." Modi v. West Virginia Bd of Medicine, 465 S.E.2d 230, 239 CW. Va. 1995). 

"Evidentiary findings made at an administrative hearing should not be reversed unless they are 

clearly wrong." Syl. Pt. 2, Lowe v. Cicchirillo, 672 S.E.2d 311 CW. Va. 2008). "We must uphold 

any of the administrative agency's factual findings that are supported by substantial evidence, 

and we owe substantial deference to inferences drawn from these facts." Webb v. West Virginia 

Bd of Medicine, 569 S.E.2d 225, 232 CW. Va. 2002), citing Martin v. Randolph County Bd of 

Educ., 465 S.E.2d 399, 406 (W. Va. 1995). "The 'clearly wrong' and the 'arbitrary and 

capricious' standards of review are deferential ones which presume an agency's actions are valid 

as long as the decision is supported by substantial evidence or by a rational basis." Syl. Pt. 2, 

Stewart v. W. Va. Bd ofExaminersfor Registered Professional Nurses, 475 S.E.2d 478 CW. Va. 

1996). 

B. 	 The evidence unequivocally established that Petitioner was guilty of conduct 
derogatory to the morals or standing of the profession of registered nursing in 
violation ofW. Va. Code § 30-7-11(f). 

Pursuant to W. Va. Code § 30-7-11(f), the Board has the power to discipline a licensee 

upon proof that the licensee "is guilty of conduct derogatory to the morals or standing of the 

(5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; 
or 
(6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise 
of discretion. 

See W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4(g). 
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profession of registered nursing." Administrative rule W. Va. Code R. § 19-3-14 identifies 

specific instances of misconduct which constitute violations of W. Va. Code § 30-7-11(f). W. 

Va. Code R. § 19-3-14 expressly provides that a licensee who uses an illicit drug is guilty of 

professional misconduct under W. Va. Code § 30-7-11(f): 

14.1. Conduct, including, but not limited to the following, if proven by a 
preponderance of evidence, constitutes professional misconduct subject to 
disciplinary action pursuant to W. Va. Code § 30-7-1 I (f). The applicant or 
licensee: 

... 14.1.11. self-administered or otherwise took into his or her body any 
prescription drug in any way not in accordance with a legal, valid prescription or 
used any illicit drug; 

W. Va. Code R. § 19-3-14.1 (Emphasis added.) 

Accordingly, because marijuana is an illicit drug under the laws of West Virginia, the 

hearing examiner and the Circuit Court both correctly concluded that Petitioner was guilty of 

professional misconduct in violation ofW. Va. Code § 30-7-11(f). 

C. 	 Petitioner's use of an illegal drug rendered Petitioner unfit or incompetent to 
practice registered professional nursing in violation of W. Va. Code § 30-7-11(c). 
Regardless, the issue is moot because the violation of W. Va. Code § 30-7-11(t) is 
sufficient grounds to discipline Petitioner's license. 

Pursuant to W. Va. Code § 30-7-11(c), the Board may discipline a licensee upon proof 

that the licensee is "unfit or incompetent by reason of negligence, habits or other causes." The 

hearing examiner concluded that Petitioner's unlawful use of marijuana constituted a violation of 

W. Va. Code § 30-7-II(c), in that Petitioner is "unfit or incompetent to practice registered 

professional nursing by reason of habits or other causes" [See Recommended Order at p. 8, ~ 8.) 

A one-time positive drug screen for an illicit drug is sufficient grounds or "other cause" 

to conclude that a nurse is unfit or incompetent. A violation ofW. Va. Code § 30-7-11(c) does 

not require the Board to prove that a licensee has a history of drug use or addiction. Indeed, this 

distinguishes § 30-7-11(c) from § 30-7-11(d), a separate grounds for discipline which 
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specifically relates to drug addiction. See W. Va. Code § 30-7-11(d) (a licensee may be 

disciplined upon proof that he or she " .. .is addicted to the use of habit-forming drugs[.]") 

[Emphasis added.] Petitioner was not alleged to have violated W. Va. Code § 30-7-11 (d) and 

thus proof of an addiction or substance abuse history was not necessary or required under W. Va. 

Code § 30-7-11(c). 

Accordingly, the evidence of Petitioner's marijuana use supports the hearing examiner's 

conclusion that Petitioner's conduct violated W. Va. Code § 30-7-11(c). However, it is not 

necessary for the Court to address this issue because a violation ofW. Va. Code § 30-7-11(f) is 

sufficient grounds to discipline Petitioner's license. 

D. 	 The Board did not fail to produce Petitioner's substance abuse evaluation because 
the document was actually produced to the Board by Petitioner. Regardless, the 
evaluation report is in no way "exculpatory" as alleged by Petitioner. 

Petitioner's allegation that the Board failed to produce a so-called "exculpatory" 

substance abuse evaluation of Petitioner is misleading and erroneous. Petitioner's Brief 

inaccurately represents the events below in an attempt to create controversy where none exists. 

First, the document at issue was actually produced to the Board by Petitioner. Second, 

Petitioner's assertion that the evaluation report is somehow "exculpatory" is frivolous. 

(1) 	 The Board did not fail to disclose the full evaluation because this document 
was actually produced to the Board by Petitioner's counsel in the underlying 
proceeding. 

The full evaluation report was actually produced to the Board by Petitioner. Petitioner's 

current counsel was not involved in the underlying administrative proceeding, during which 

Petitioner was represented by Sarah Smith, Esquire ("Ms. Smith"). It appears Petitioner's 

change in counsel may have created some confusion with regard to the production of the full 

evaluation. 
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At the outset, Petitioner's Brief fails to disclose that the March 7, 2014 correspondence36 

to the Board from Biniki Shrewsberry ("Ms. Shrewsberry") of FMRS Health Systems, Inc., was 

produced to Petitioner, along with the entirety of the Board's file, on April 14,2014. The March 

7, 2014 correspondence was a one page summary by Ms. Shrewsberry of her evaluation of 

Petitioner performed on March 5, 2014. 

Where Petitioner is confused is that the full evaluation report37 was not provided to the 

Board by Ms. Shrewsberry along with her March 7, 2014 summary. In fact, the Board was 

unaware of the existence of the full evaluation report until Petitioner's counsel, Ms. Smith, 

directed FMRS to provide it to the Board afew weeks before the October 9, 2014 hearing. 

Thus, because Ms. Smith was the one who knew about the report and specifcally directed 

a copy be produced to the Board, the Board believed - and reasonably so - that Petitioner was 

already in possession of it. As evidenced by the hearing transcript: 

MS. SMITH: 	 As far as the evidence that we wanted to present, I had both 
Beckley Appalachian Regional Hospital and FMRS send some 
records directly to the Board, that way I wouldn't have to 
have them here. And I never saw the records. They were sent 
directly to'the Board. I'm assuming that you have a copy of 
them. There were three drug screens, as well as a substance 
abuse evaluation that was recommended by the Board. Did you 
receive that? 

MR. FOSTER: Recommended by this Board, the RN? 

MS. SMITH: The Nursing Board recommended whenever the complaint was 
filed that Mr. McClanahan undergo a substance abuse evaluation 
by a licensed - yes. 


MR. FOSTER: You're talking about the one from FMRS? 


MS. SMITH: Yes. Do you have that? 


MR. FOSTER: Yeah, I have that. 


36 App. at 00167-00168. 


37 App. at 00170-00179. 
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MS. SMITH: I just wanted to make sure. 

MR. FOSTER: Did you never receive any of those documents? 

MS. SMITH: I actually received yesterday something from FMRS, so that 
may be identical to what you have. 38 

After the above back and forth, the parties when off the record to confirm that both were 

in possession of the same documents - which they were - and the hearing continued. No 

accuation was made that the Board failed to produce documents. Ms. Smith knew the report 

existed, had access to it, and obtained a copy from FMRS prior to the hearing. Why Ms. Smith 

did not obtain or already have a copy of the report when she directed FMRS to provide it to the 

Board is unknown. 

It was the Board's understanding that Petitioner was simply disclosing a document that 

Petitioner already had, but the Board did not.39 Prior to the hearing Ms. Smith never informed 

the Board that she did not already have a copy of the evaluation report, nor did she request the 

Board to send her a copy after she directed FMRS to provide a copy to the Board. Had 

Petitioner's counsel simply communicated to the Board that she did not initially obtain a copy of 

the report the Board would have happily forwarded the document. The confusion was due to a 

lack of communication by Petitioner's counsel, and through no fault of the Board. 

In any case, the fact remains that Petitioner's counsel had access to the document at all 

times and obtained a copy prior to the hearing. 

38 App. at 00023 (pp. 57-58 of Hr. Trans.) [Emphasis added.] 

39 The Board believed that Petitioner disclosed the report because Petitioner was planning to call Ms. 
Shrewsberry as a witness, and the report would be an exhibit referred to by Ms. Shrewsberry. The Board assumed 
that Petitioner directed FMRS to provide a copy to the Board (instead of Petitioner providing a copy to the Board) 
for authenticity purposes, so there would be no question that the full report, in its entirety, was received by the 
Board. 
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(2) Petitioner's assertion that the full evaluation is "exculpatory" is frivolous. 

Petitioner's assertion that the evaluation is somehow "exculpatory" is nonsensical and 

factually impossible. As discussed above, Petitioner's misconduct was not premised upon 

addiction or a history of substance abuse. Petitioner was guilty of misconduct because he tested 

positive for an illicit drug, and the evaluation report does not and cannot negate this fact. 

Further, a summary of the evaluation was contained in the March 7, 2014 correspondence 

that was produced to Petitioner along with the entire file on April 14, 2014. As stated in the 

March 7, 2014 summary, Ms. Shrewsberry's opinion was inconclusive because Petitioner 

continued to deny any marijuana use and assert the drug screen was a false positive. This was 

consistent with the evaluation report. There is no additional information in the evaluation report 

that is remotely "exculpatory." 

Accordingly, for the foregoing reasons, this assignment of error should be disregarded. 

E. 	 Proper chain of custody was established by the evidence and was uncontested at the 
administrative hearing, and Petitioner has not advanced any legitimate basis to 
conclude that the hearing examiner abused his discretion by admitting the evidence. 

Petitioner's attempt to dispute chain of custody and the reliability of the drug screen

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